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Agenda

• Food and Beverage Class Actions

• Filings and Trends

• Class Cert

• Damages
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Food and Beverage Class Actions
2019 Filings On Pace
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*2019 Filings as of May 1
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Food and Beverage Class Actions  
Type of Filings
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*2019 Filings as of May 1
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Food and Beverage Class Actions
By Jurisdiction 
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*2018 Filings as of November 1
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Food and Beverage Class Actions
Trend Update: Malic Acid Lawsuits
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• Core Allegation

• Products advertised as “natural” or “naturally flavored” 
contain malic acid

• MTDs Denials Continue

• Branca v. Bai Brands, LLC (S.D. Cal.) 

• Hilsley v. General Mills (S.D. Cal.) 

• Augustine v. Talking Rain (S.D. Cal.)

• Morris v. Motts LLP (C.D. Cal.)

• But what about the named Plaintiffs?

• Hunt v. Sunny Delight (C.D. Cal.)
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Food and Beverage Class Actions
Trend Update: “No Preservatives”
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• Core Allegation

• Same as malic acid case, but directed to “No 
preservative” claims

• C.K. Lee principal plaintiffs’ lawyer; moved on from 
slackfill

• Similar motion to dismiss difficulties

• Hu v. Herr Foods II (E.D. Pa.) 

• Quiroz v. Beaverton Foods (E.D.N.Y.)

• Little guidance at summary judgment stage
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Food and Beverage Class Actions
Damages Defenses Remain Difficult
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• Plaintiffs still succeeding with conjoint

• Courts continue to accept model

• Broomfield v. Craft Brew Alliance (N.D. Cal.)

• Hasemann v. Gerber (E.D.N.Y.)

• Price v. L’Oreal (S.D.N.Y.)

• Defense still possible if model incomplete

• Mohamed v. Kellogg Co. (S.D. Cal.)
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Food and Beverage Class Actions
Notable Settlements
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• Damages & Ascertainability Driving Settlements

• Briseno v. ConAgra (Wesson Oil / “Natural”)

• Settlement “valued” at $27M

• Remove “natural”; refunds up to $4.50

• $6.85M attorneys fees

• Canada Dry “Real Ginger” (Mo. / N.D. Cal.)

• $11.6M 49-state settlement; approx. $2.5M CA settlement

• Up to $3.4M in attorneys’ fees

• Broomfield v. Craft Brew Alliance (N.D. Cal.)

• $4.7M settlement value; terms not yet disclosed
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Thank You

Charles C. Sipos, Partner

csipos@perkinscoie.com
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WHAT IS SLACK FILL?

Slack fill is the difference between the 
actual capacity of a container and the 
volume of product contained therein –
in other words, the empty space in the 
package.  
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SLACK FILL STATUTES

• Federal slack fill regulation = 21 C.F.R. §100.100 

• California slack fill statute = Bus. & Prof. Code§12606.2

• Purpose of slack fill statutes = Avoid consumer confusion over how much 
product the consumer is purchasing.

• Manufacturer’s goal should be to allow the consumer enough information –
be it appropriate labeling and/or the ability to view the contents of the 
package – to make an informed decision when buying the product.
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NONFUNCTIONAL SLACK FILL

• Slack fill in and of itself is not illegal or misleading.  What is prohibited is 
“nonfunctional” slack fill.  

• Not misleading/no violation if the consumer can clearly see through the 
packaging to determine how much how much product is in the container, no 
violation – e.g., a clear glass jar or a clear plastic bag.  

• Translucent materials may or may not violate the statute – e.g. if it must be 
held up to light or to transparent containers with labels or graphics that 
impede the consumer’s clear view of the contents, arguably a violation.
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SAFE HARBORS

Slack fill is nonfunctional, and thus prohibited, unless it:

(1) is required for the protection of the contents of the package

(2) is needed for the operation of manufacturing machinery

(3) results from unavoidable product settling during shipping/handling

(4) is necessary for a specific function, such as the preparation or consumption 
of the food, if that function is inherent to the nature of the food and is clearly 
communicated to consumers

(5) results from packaging that contains a reusable container (like gift products)

(6) is needed to meet mandatory labeling requirements
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LEGISLATIVE HISTORY

U.S. Food & Drug Administration

Misleading Containers; Nonfunctional Slack-Fill, 58 Federal 
Register 2957-01 

(Jan. 6, 1993)

U.S. Food & Drug Administration 

Misleading Containers; Nonfunctional Slack-Fill, 58 Federal 
Register 64123 

(Dec. 6, 1993)
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FDA’s POSITION

• Any portion of the empty space in the package that does 
not serve the functional purpose of any of the safe 
harbors constitutes nonfunctional slack fill.

• Accurately stating the net weight or volume of the 
contents of the package does not protect the consumer 
against misleading slack fill
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NEW CALIFORNIA SLACK FILL 
STATUTE

• California’s slack fill statute was amended in September 2018, when 
Governor Jerry Brown signed into law Assembly Bill 2632. The amended law, 
which is codified at California Business and Professions Code Sections 
12606 and 12606.2, includes the following key changes:

• The amended law exempts packaging sold in a mode of commerce that “does 
not allow the consumer to view or handle the physical container or product.” It 
could be argued that this exempts online sales.

• The amended law exempts product packaging that clearly and conspicuously 
depicts the product “fill line” on exterior packaging or the immediate product 
container if visible at point of sale.

• Food containers are now exempt where “[t]he actual size of the product or 
immediate product container is clearly and conspicuously depicted on any 
side of the exterior packaging, excluding the bottom, accompanied by a clear 
and conspicuous disclosure that the depiction is the ‘actual size’ of the 
product or immediate product container” and “t]he dimensions of the product 
or immediate product container are visible through the exterior packaging.”
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WHAT SHOULD MANUFACTURERS 
DO TO COMPLY?

• Utilize clear container, or provide a window 
to fully view the product, to the extent it 
does not compromise the product or its 
branding

• Optimize packaging design to 
minimize/eliminate empty spaces

• Know the physical characteristics of the 
products and the capabilities (and 
limitations) of packaging machinery

• If cannot minimize or eliminate empty 
spaces, satisfy one or more of the safe 
harbors

• Adequately label product to avoid 
consumer confusion over amount of 
contents
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PRACTICAL TIPS

• Transparent packaging.  Use whenever possible.

• Clear and conspicuous disclosures. Provide information on the package 
about the need for empty space.

• Clear internal records.  Maintain re packaging design decisions, including 
what other options were considered, why the chosen design was selected, 
and why the need for slack fill.

• Product quantity changes. Re-evaluate packaging whenever reducing 
amount of product being offered.  Reducing the amount of food or drink in a 
package without changing the package size can create risk to claims of 
misrepresentation or deception.

• Multi-packs. Packaging containing multiple packages of product – e.g., bulk 
sales – may be susceptible to attack even if the individual packages are not.
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LITIGATION CONSIDERATIONS

• Privilege. Should you cloak your package design analysis with the attorney-
client privilege and/or attorney work product doctrine?  

• If you doubt the outcome of the analysis will be favorable, you may want to 
do so. 

• If the analysis is favorable, you may at some point want or need to waive 
those privileges in order to use that information to defend your packaging 
design.  

• Evidentiary standards.  Ensure that you use a scientifically sound and 
accepted methodology for how you analyze and test your packaging designs 
so that such evidence is admissible under the applicable evidentiary 
standards, such as the Daubert test used in federal courts.  

• You don’t want to spend valuable resources on an expert consultant to 
validate your design and then not be able to get that evidence admitted in 
court.
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SLACK FILL CLAIMS/THEORIES

• Packaging violates federal and/or state slack fill statute by including 
nonfunctional empty space.

• Packaging is deceptive and unlawful because its runs afoul of the 
“reasonable consumer” standard.

• Reasonable consumer expects more product and would not have bought it had they 
known – i.e., “I didn’t get my money’s worth.”

• Packaging violates state UDAP laws

• California Unfair Competition Law (Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200 et. seq.)

• Missouri Merchandising Practices Act (“MMPA”) and unjust enrichment

• Unjust enrichment
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PRODUCTS ATTACKED
• Hershey’s Whoppers and Reese’s candy
• Swedish Fish candy
• Junior Mints
• Hot Tamales
• Mike & Ike
• Raisinettes
• Krazy Glue
• Barilla pasta products
• Sour Patch Watermelon candy
• M&M’s Minis
• Nabisco Go-Paks
• Rice-A-Roni
• Pasta Roni
• McCormick pepper
• Starbucks’ lattes and iced beverages
• Tropicana orange juice
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CONTINUING EVOLUTION OF SLACK 
FILL CLAIMS

• Slack fill filings, which have exploded over the past few years, remained 
active in 2018 and  YTD 2019. Plaintiffs continue to file consumer lawsuits –
typically putative class actions – alleging food packaging is deceptive 
because it contains empty space, or nonfunctional slack fill, that disguises the 
amount of product in the package.

• While more plaintiffs are surviving early pleading challenges, pleading 
sufficient facts to advance past the “reasonable consumer” standard applied 
by most courts, several decisions this past year demonstrate these claims 
face significant barriers to success at summary judgment and class 
certification.
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CHALLENGING THE PLEADINGS

• Decisions mixed but the courts getting tougher on plaintiffs’ pleadings.

• Courts are conducting a more rigorous analysis of their factual allegations to 

determine if they state valid slack fill claims, using a reasonable consumer 

standard.  

• Prior decisions were much more lenient and held less factual allegations 

sufficed.

• A court may determine as a matter of law that an allegedly deceptive practice 

would not have misled a reasonable consumer.
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CHALLENGING THE PLEADINGS

• A reasonable consumer cannot suspend common sense or ignore other 

methods of observation such as feeling the contents of the package, or avoid 

reading the cooking instructions on the package.  

• By picking up a bag and either feeling its contents or reading the package 

labeling, a reasonable consumer should, in many cases, be able to ascertain 

and understand that the package is not bursting at the seams with product 

and generally to what extent it is filled.

• Manufacturers are making these arguments more frequently and submitting 

evidence on motions to dismiss (via requests for judicial notice) for courts to 

consider, with increasing success.
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IMPORTANT EARLY DECISIONS
Ebner v. Fresh, Inc., 838 F.3d 958 (9th Cir. 2016)

• Not a food case but a good decision for manufacturers.

• 9th Circuit affirmed district court’s dismissal with prejudice of plaintiff’s claims 
that (1) Fresh had used deceptively large packaging that was misleading to 
“the reasonable consumer,” and (2) its packaging violated California’s slack 
fill rules.

• Ebner claimed Fresh’s “Sugar” lip balm is packaged in an oversized tube that 
actually dispenses only 75% of the product and therefore is deceptive, and 
the unaccessible 25% of the product constituted nonfunctional slack fill.

• 9th Circuit:  Industry standard that some portion of product does not get 
pushed out of the tube.  Reasonable consumer understands this, and can see 
it and actually access it if he/she wants (with their finger).  Space with 
inaccessible product is not slack fill.
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IMPORTANT EARLY RULINGS
Bush v. Mondelez Int’l, No. 16-CV-02460-RS, 2016 WL 5886886 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 7, 

2016) (“Bush I”) and 2016 WL 7324990 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 16, 2016) (“Bush II”)

• Mini Chips Ahoy!, Mini Oreo, Golden Oreo Mini, Nutter Butter Bites, Mini Nilla
Wafers, Ritz Bits, and Teddy Grahams  

• Court twice granted a motion to dismiss defectively pleaded slack fill claims.

• Plaintiff argued that “the container size leads consumers to believe that there 
will be more snack food than there actually is” and that “he would not have 
purchased the products had he known the containers were not ‘adequately 
filled.’”  

• Plaintiff recited the six safe harbors under the federal regulation and, in 
conclusory fashion, alleged that “none of these circumstances apply here.”  

• Court:  Such allegations are conclusory and “insufficient to support a claim of 
unlawful packaging.”

• Appealed but plaintiff later dismissed while appeal pending.
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IMPORTANT EARLY RULINGS
Bautista v. Cytosport Inc., 2016 WL 7192109 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 13, 2016) 

• Court held that “a plaintiff must possess some factual basis before bringing a 
[nonfunctional slack fill claim].

• Dismissed the plaintiff’s conclusory allegations as insufficient to state a 
nonfunctional slack fill claim.
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IMPORTANT EARLY RULINGS
Forouzesh v. Starbucks Corp., 2016 WL 4443203 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 19, 2016)

• Plaintiffs alleged Starbucks deceptively marketed its iced drinks because they 
did not contain the stated amount of liquid, if you excluded the amount of 
space taken by ice.

• Court granted motion to dismiss on grounds that reasonable consumer knows 
an iced drink contains ice and that the drink would contain some portion of 
liquid and some portion of ice in the designated cup size.
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IMPORTANT EARLY DECISIONS
Izquierdo v. Mondelez Foods, 2016 WL 6459832 (SDNY Oct. 26, 2016)

• Plaintiffs failed to state a claim under NY’s UDAP statute because they did 
not allege facts establishing that they paid more for the Sour Patch candy 
than they otherwise would have, absent the alleged deceptive packaging.

• Court rejected Mondelez’ arguments that a reasonable consumer would have 
been able to determine how much candy was in the package, and that it 
contained slack fill, by handling/shaking it.  Court:  Question of fact not 
appropriate for motion to dismiss.
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IMPORTANT EARLY RULINGS
Strumlauf v. Starbucks Corporation, 192 F. Supp. 3d 1025 (N.D. Cal. 2016)

• Plaintiffs adequately stated UCL, CLRA, false advertising and breach of 
express warranty claims that Starbucks deceptively selling its latte drinks by 
providing less liquid than stated on its menu.

• Starbucks argued that reasonable customer would know stated quantity 
includes foam from steamed milk, not just the liquid.  Court:  Question of fact 
that can’t be decided on motion to dismiss.

• Plaintiffs failed to state breach of implied warranty of merchantability claim 
because made to order lattes are not packaged goods.

• Plaintiffs failed to allege Art. III standing for injunctive relief because they 
would not buy lattes if knew drink did not contain fluid equal to ounces stated 
on menu.  Court:  “Now they know.” 
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IMPORTANT NEW DECISIONS –
KNOWLEDGE OF THE PRODUCT

Bratton v. The Hershey Company, No. 2:16–cv–4322–C–NKL, 2018 WL 934899 
(W.D. Mo. Feb. 16, 2018)

• Plaintiff alleged that empty space—or “slack-fill” —in 4-ounce boxes of 
Reese’s Pieces® and 5-ounce boxes of Whoppers® was misleading.  

• Court denied Hershey’s motion to dismiss but later granted summary 
judgment.

• Court concluded that plaintiff ”was not misled by the packaging,” based 
on admission that he was aware of approximately how much candy and 
how much empty space was in each box of Whoppers and Reese’s 
Pieces, and nonetheless continued to purchase the boxes. 

• “Therefore,” the court reasoned, “he cannot demonstrate that he was 
injured by any purportedly deceptive practice by Hershey.”
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IMPORTANT NEW DECISIONS –
REASONABLE CONSUMER

Hawkins v. Nestlé USA, Inc., No. 4:17CV205-HEA, 2018 WL 926130 (W.D. Mo. Feb. 
16, 2018)

• Plaintiffs alleged that boxes of Raisinets candy contain 45% nonfunctional 
slack fill. 

• In its motion to dismiss, Nestlé argued that a reasonable consumer would 
instantly realize the package was half-empty because of its “maraca-like 
rattle.” 

• Court rejected this argument and denied the motion, holding that Nestlé relied 
on matters outside of the complaint and plaintiff had pleaded sufficient facts 
to state claims for violation of the Missouri Merchandising Practices Act and 
unjust enrichment.

• Case voluntarily dismissed in November 2018.
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IMPORTANT NEW DECISIONS –
REASONABLE CONSUMER

Daniel v. Mondelez International, Inc., 287 F. Supp. 3d 177 (E.D.N.Y. Feb. 26, 2018)

• Plaintiff challenged the slack fill in a package of Swedish Fish candy, claiming 
the box was deceptively underfilled. 

• Because the plaintiff had no intention to buy the product again in the future, 
the court dismissed her claim for injunctive relief.  

• The court also dismissed her claims under the FDCA and parallel New York 
state statutes, holding that “a reasonable consumer acting reasonably would 
find accurate, clearly visible representations of net weight, serving size, and 
number of servings to offset any misrepresentations arising from non-
functional slack-fill.”
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IMPORTANT NEW DECISIONS –
REASONABLE CONSUMER

Daniel v. Tootsie Roll Industries, LLC, No. 17 Civ. 7541 
(NRB),  2018 WL 3650015 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 1, 2018)

• Plaintiff claimed that Junior Mints packaging tricked 
consumers into overpaying for the candy because more than 
1/3 the box is empty space.  

• In a 44-page decision, the court found plaintiffs did not allege 
a viable claim for consumer fraud under New York law, 
holding “reasonable” consumers could have determined the 
weight and the number of candies from the packaging, and 
would expect some empty space.  

• Court held: “Assuming that a reasonable consumer might 
ignore the evidence plainly before him attributes to 
consumers a level of stupidity that the court cannot 
countenance…The law simply does not provide the level of 
coddling plaintiffs seek… [and] the Court declines to enshrine 
into the law an embarrassing level of mathematical illiteracy.”

• Appealed but later voluntarily dismissed.
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IMPORTANT NEW DECISIONS –
CLASS CERT DENIED

White v. Just Born, Inc., 
No. 2:17-cv-04025-NKL, 2018 WL 3748405 (W.D. Mo. Aug. 7, 2018)

• Plaintiff alleged that boxes of the Hot Tamales / Mike & Ike candy were underfilled; 
sought certification of a Missouri class, and two multi-state unjust enrichment classes, 
on theory that the actual value of the candy was less than what consumers paid for it. 

• Court denied class certification because individualized issues predominated, and the 
class members are unascertainable.

• Because most consumers purchase this type of product from a third-party retailer 
rather than from the manufacturer – at a movie theater, for example – there is no 
master list to provide common proof of purchase. Each class member will need to 
demonstrate his own individualized purchase, which makes the class unascertainable. 

• Court found that the “litigation would be dominated by individual inquiries into whether 
each class member was deceived by any slack-fill in a box before purchasing it. In 
other words, it would be dominated by causation and knowledge.”  Because “an 
individual who knew what he was getting before he purchased one of the candy boxes 
but chose to purchase it anyway cannot establish that Just Born’s retention of the 
purported benefit was unjust[,]” inquiries into each class member’s knowledge prior to 
purchase would also predominate.
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IMPORTANT COURT DECISIONS –
CLASS CERT DENIED

Spacone v. Sanford, L.P., No. 2:17-CV-02419-AB-MRW, 2018 WL 4139057 (C.D. Cal. 
Aug. 9, 2018)

• Spacone asserted “slack fill” claims against Sanford relating to his purchase 
of Krazy Glue, claiming that the space between the interior of the container 
and the inner tube of glue constituted nonfunctional slack fill, in violation of 
California Business and Professions Code Section 12606(b). 

• Court denied class certification, holding that the plaintiff lacked standing and 
could not satisfy Rule 23’s commonality and typicality requirements. 

• Spacone’s case was doomed by his own deposition testimony, in which he 
denied having been “ripped off” and admitted he did not overpay for the Krazy
Glue.  Spacone’s only injury was that there was not enough glue in the 
package for him to complete his project, requiring him to return to the store to 
purchase a second tube. 

• Notwithstanding Spacone’s conflicting self-serving declaration, which the 
court disregarded, the court found that his inconvenience did not constitute an 
economic injury, and therefore did not satisfy California’s statutory standing 
requirement.
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IMPORTANT COURT DECISIONS –
CLASS CERT GRANTED

Escobar v. Just Born, Inc., No. 2:17-CV-01826-TJH-PJWx (C.D. Cal. Mar. 25, 2019 and June 19, 2019)  

• Plaintiff allege that Just Born violates the CLRA and Cal. UCL because 46% of the packaging for 5-oz. 
boxes of Hot Tamales and Mike & Ike candies are non-functional slack fill.  Plaintiff claims the candy maker 
should either shrink the box size, fill the box up with more candy or add features to the box that prevent 
consumer deception.

• Plaintiff is a one-time purchaser of the Mike & Ike product.  She moved for class certification under Rule 
23(b)(2) and (3).

• In March 2019, the court granted class certification as to both products, finding that the proposed class was 
numerous enough and made a common claim that the candy boxes have nonfunctional space, or slack fill.

• Court later reversed class certification ruling as to Hot Tamales on standing grounds that the class 
representative could not show that she actually purchased the product, claiming the Court had made a 
scrivener’s error.

• The class certification opinion is short and not very detailed, but the Court apparently agreed with plaintiff’s 
arguments that her claims all pose questions common to the entire class, including whether the candy 
packaging is likely to deceive consumers about the amount of candy they’re buying, whether the size of the 
box affects a consumer’s decision to buy the candy and whether the boxes contain non-functional slack fill.

• In opposition to the motion, Just Born argued that Plaintiff is “atypical” of the putative class because she 
was a first-time buyer of a box of Mike and Ikes from behind a glass counter at a movie theater, while most 
consumers are repeat buyers and are “free to pick up and handle the box” before buying it. 

• Just Born also proffered survey evidence that more than 80 percent of buyers of the products said they 
received the exact amount of candy they expected the last time they bought a box of movie theater candy.

• The Court held that the claims do not require it to investigate each class member’s interaction with the 
product.  The fact that Plaintiff bought the product rendered her typical of the class.
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IMPORTANT NEW DECISIONS –
NOVEL THEORY REJECTED

Benson v. Fannie May Confections Brands, Inc., 
No. 17-C-3519, 2018 WL 6446391 (N.D. Ill. Dec. 10, 2018).  

• Plaintiffs raised a novel theory to support their claim that the slack fill in the 
opaque box of chocolate candy was nonfunctional. Plaintiffs alleged that 
Fannie May’s 14-oz. box had less than twice the empty space in its 7-oz. box, 
the 7-oz. box must contain non-functional slack fill.

• The court rejected this theory and dismissed the claims with prejudice. “There 
is no basis for determining that a larger box should have proportionately the 
same amount of slack-fill as a smaller box. Fannie May could be using 
different machines that have differing levels of precision to fill the boxes or 
could be using the same machine to fill the boxes but it is a machine that is 
not able to fill smaller boxes as accurately as larger boxes.”
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SLACK FILL CLASS SETTLEMENTS

• Trentham v. Taste of Nature, Case No. 18-PH-CV00751 (Phelps County 
Circuit Court, Missouri) – Nationwide class case settled very early on claims 
made basis, whereby defendant paying 25 cents for each box of Taste of 
Nature Inc. candies, including Chocolate Chip Cookie Dough Bites and 
Muddy Bears, purchased, up to $12.50 max recovery for class members with 
proof of purchase, and $1 max recovery without proof of purchase.

• Iglesias v. Ferrara Candy Co., Case No. 3:17-cv-00849-VC (N.D. Cal.) --
$2.5M settlement regarding Jujyfruits, Now and Later, and Lemonhead 
candies. Members of the proposed class would be able to submit an unlimited 
number of claims, but those without a proof of purchase won’t be reimbursed 
more than $7.50. 
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STATE AG ACTIONS
State of California v. Tropicana Products, Inc., Cal. Superior Ct., Los Angeles 

Cty, Case No. 30-2017-00904499

• AG sued Tropicana for non-functional slack fill in its cardboard OJ containers; 
alleged containers too big for amount of product inside.

• Alleged violations of California’s Unfair Competition Law (§ 17200)            
and False Advertising (§ 17500). 

• Consent judgment entered March 2017

• $700,000 civil money penalty

• California’s costs of investigation (approx. $65,000)

• Injunction requiring Tropicana to increase by 10% the font size of ounces per 
carton designation

• Future compliance with CA slack fill statutes
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“Natural” or “All Natural” Claims 

 No general consensus on definition of  “natural” with respect to labeling on products. 

 Consumers purchase products labeled “natural” often in the false belief  that they are 
purchasing a product without GMOs, hormones, pesticides, or artificial ingredients. 

 FDA sought public comments in November 2015 seeking to regulate the industry’s use 
of  the term “natural” on food labeling where most “natural” labeling was found.

 Public comment period closed on May 10, 2016 with 7,690 comments received.  Since 
then, FDA has not issued a rule or opinion. 

 Instead, FDA has publicly announced that it has “considered” the term “natural” to 
mean that “nothing artificial or synthetic (including all color additives regardless of  
source) has been included in, or has been added to, a food that would not normally be 
expected to be in that food.”
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Importance of Defining “Natural”

 Over the last few years, plaintiffs have aggressively sued food and beverage 
manufacturers asserting that “natural” food labeling is misleading because of  
the ingredients contained in the products. 

 Plaintiffs claim that “natural” labeling misrepresents health benefits or 
ingredients of  the products. 

 The term “natural” in these lawsuits may be dispositive of  the entire action.
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“Natural” Food Labeling Class Actions – Holve v. 
McCormick & Co., 334 F. Supp. 535 (W.D.N.Y. Aug. 14, 
2018)

 In 2017 and 2018, courts had taken the general approach to stay “natural” cases 
under the primary jurisdiction doctrine believing that FDA regulation on the 
term “natural” was imminent. 

 In Holve, plaintiffs alleged that a defendant manufacturer’s spice and seasoning 
products were deceptively labeled “natural” on their front packaging because 
these products contained unnatural, synthetic, artificial, and/or genetically 
modified ingredients including corn starch, white corn flour, and citric acid.

 The court stayed the “all natural” claims under the primary jurisdiction 
doctrine, concluding that the case should be stayed in deference to the FDA’s 
discretion and superior technical expertise. 

 Court states that this would “harmonize court rulings” with regard to the term 
“natural.” 
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 However, some courts have also adjudicated “natural” cases despite pending FDA 
regulation. 

 In Parks, plaintiff  filed a class action lawsuit against defendant for labeling its Super 
Premium Food for Dogs as “natural,” when tests conducted by an independent laboratory 
revealed that glyphosate was present in the products.

 Defendant moved to dismiss plaintiff ’s complaint on various grounds including, that 
plaintiff ’s claims were expressly preempted by federal law.

 Court dismissed plaintiff ’s complaint without prejudice, as the complaint failed to allege 
that the term “natural” was “materially misleading,” and that the presence of  negligible 
amounts of  glyphosate in dog food that does not have harmful or toxic effects is not 
likely to affect consumers’ decisions in purchasing a product. 

 While the court did not rule on the federal preemption issue, the case suggests that courts 
in some instances may be unwilling to permit a case to proceed on the basis that the 
“natural” labeling on products is the equivalent of  absolutely no artificial ingredients in 
the product itself. 

“Natural” Food Labeling Class Actions – In re KIND LLC 
“Healthy & All Natural” Litig., 15-MD-2645 (WHP) (S.D.N.Y. 
Feb. 11, 2019)
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“Natural” Food Labeling Class Actions – In re KIND LLC 
“Healthy & All Natural” Litig., 15-MD-2645 (WHP) (S.D.N.Y. 
Feb. 11, 2019)

 In other instances, courts have begun to signal that FDA regulation on the term 
“natural” may not be imminent as previously believed.

 In KIND, plaintiffs alleged that defendant food-company falsely labeled its 
products as “all natural” and “Non-GMO” despite containing synthetic and 
artificial ingredients. 

 In 2016, the court stayed “all natural” claims under the primary jurisdiction 
doctrine, concluding that the case should be stayed in deference to the FDA’s 
discretion and superior technical expertise. 

 At the time, the court believed that a stay would “harmonize court rulings” with regard 
to the term “natural.”
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“Natural” Food Labeling Class Actions – In re KIND LLC 
“Healthy & All Natural” Litig., 15-MD-2645 (WHP) (S.D.N.Y. 
Feb. 11, 2019)

 In 2018, in light of  an amended complaint and a long period of  FDA inactivity, the 
court addressed whether a stay remained appropriate.

 The court upheld the stay for a limited time period but signaled that it was losing 
patience with lack of  FDA activity. It also noted concerns that a January 2017 
executive order, which scaled back regulation, could hinder the FDA’s process of  
defining “natural.”

 In February 2019, despite FDA updates that it soon planned to publicly communicate 
next steps relating to defining “natural,” the court lifted the stay. 

 The court’s decision was based, in part, on the fact that FDA “guidance is still 
awaited.”
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 In Brown, plaintiff  alleged that defendant coffee corporation duped consumers into 
believing that its “Sour Gummies” product contained only natural ingredients by 
omission. 

 According to plaintiff, because the front label did not advertise that the product 
contained artificial flavors—an alleged violation of  FDA regulations requiring companies 
to label food containing artificial ingredients—she reasonably believed that the product 
was “naturally-flavored.”

 In granting Starbucks’ motion to dismiss, the court noted that “[n]othing about the 
product itself—a brightly-colored, gelatinous candy—would lead a reasonable consumer 
to conclude that the Gummies contain only natural ingredients.”

 The court found it “implausible that a reasonable consumer would conclude the 
Gummies contain only natural ingredients.”

“Natural” Food Labeling Class Actions – Brown v. Starbucks 
Corp., Case No.: 18cv2286 JM (WVG) (S.D. Cal. Mar. 1, 2019)
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“Natural” Food Labeling Class Actions – Brown v. Starbucks 
Corp., Case No.: 18cv2286 JM (WVG) (S.D. Cal. Mar. 1, 2019)

 Lesson: When your product looks like this, a court is less likely to conclude that a 
reasonable consumer would believe the product is “natural”: 
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“Natural” Food Labeling Class Actions – Recently 
Filed Cases

 “Natural” food labeling cases are continuing to be a hot trend in class action litigation, 
with numerous lawsuits filed this year alone: 

 Connie Newman v. General Mills Inc., et al., Case No. 19-L-0455, St. Clair County Circuit 
Court, Illinois (June 20, 2019) – Plaintiff  filed class action alleging that defendants falsely 
advertised its fruit roll-up products as all natural when they actually contained a synthetic 
flavoring chemical described as “malic acid.”

 Mohammed Garadi, et al. v. Mars Wrigley Confectionary US LLC, Case No. 1:19-cv-3209, U.S. 
District Court, Eastern District of  New York (May 30, 2019) – Plaintiffs filed class action 
alleging that defendant’s ice cream bars are labeled as “vanilla ice cream” with “natural 
flavor” from vanilla beans, even though the flavoring came from artificial sources. 

 Anyta Wilson v. Ventre Packing Co. Inc., Case No. 1922-CC00742, St. Louis City Circuit 
Court, Missouri (April 10, 2019) – Plaintiff  filed class action against defendant alleging 
that its pizza sauce was marketed as “all natural” when it allegedly contained a 
preservative described as “citric acid.”
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New Trends in “Natural” Class Actions – Petrosino v. 
Stearn’s Prods., No. 16-CV-7735 (NSR) (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 
2018)

 Similarly, “natural” labeling cases are also present outside of  the food context, for 
example, in the cosmetic industry.

 In Petrosino, plaintiff  putative class sued defendant producer and marketer of  a line of  
cosmetic products for deceptive advertising.

 Defendant’s anti-wrinkle cream, moisturizer, and hydrating night cream allegedly bore 
a prominently located mark with the word “natural” surrounded by the phrases 
“cruelty free,” “paraben-free,” and “100% vegan”.

 Plaintiff  alleged that use of  the word “natural” was misleading because a reasonable 
consumer would understand “natural” to mean that the products did not contain 
synthetic or artificial ingredients.

 However, Defendant’s products allegedly contained 22 synthetic and/or artificial 
ingredients.
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New Trends in “Natural” Class Actions – Petrosino v. 
Stearn’s Prods., No. 16-CV-7735 (NSR) (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 30, 
2018)

 The court denied Defendant’s motion to dismiss because, inter alia, “[i]t is not 
unreasonable as a matter of  law to expect that a product labeled ‘natural’ or ‘all natural’ 
contains only natural ingredients”.

 The court also denied Defendant’s motion to stay under the primary jurisdiction doctrine 
pending FDA clarification on the meaning of  the word “natural” in human food 
products:

 Plaintiff ’s claims did not require a finding of  what “natural” means but instead 
whether a reasonable consumer would be misled by a label displaying the word 
“natural” when the product contains synthetic ingredients.

 Moreover, human food products are a “significantly different subject matter” than 
cosmetics, so the context in which consumer expectations arise in materially different.
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